1980

Kenneth K. Bradford and Tammy Bradford v.
Michael Alvey and Vaughn Alvey, D/B/A C.
Howard Alvey & Sons, A Partnership; and Michael
E. Crowley, A General Partner, D/B/A Micro
Investment : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Bradford, seek specific performance, or in the alternative, damages for breach of an agreement in the form of an Earnest Money Receipt And Offer To Purchase (Exhibit 1).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The court below held that a condition precedent to the subject agreement becoming binding never occurred. The court

found that Mr. and Mrs. Bradford "failed to reasonably pursue the financing," and thus found for the Defendants-Respondents, "no cause of action." (R. 172, 225-232)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Mr. and Mrs. Bradford, Appellants, seek to have the judgment for Defendants-Respondents reversed and remanded for a determination of costs and attorney's fees.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. and Mrs. Bradford have been married for nearly four years. They have three children. Mr. Bradford has been a letter carrier for the U. S. Postal Service for about the last four and one-half years. (R. 369)

In February of 1978, they were in the market for a new home for their expanding family. They drove through the Shiloh subdivision in West Jordan, Utah. Interested in purchasing in that area, they took down a name and telephone number from a sign that was posted in the subdivision. (R. 372)

The sign indicated that Midvalley Investment was marketing the subdivision. Mr. Bradford called the number and talked with Michael Herzog, real estate agent for Midvalley. Mr. Herzog visited Mr. and Mrs. Bradford in their home, at which time he prepared and they signed the Earnest Money Receipt, Exhibit "1," to purchase Lot 95 Shiloh Subdivision, West Jordan, Utah. (R. 372)

This was on or about February 17, 1978. The Earnest Money was accepted by Respondents Michael and Vaughn Alvey for Midvalley on or about February 22, 1978. The agreement was expressly made "sale subject to buyer obtaining financing (FHA)." (Exhibit 1). Said Respondents, Alveys, never had any direct contact with either Mr. and Mrs. Bradford. (R. 404, 415, 493, 495)

During all times pertinent hereto, Midvalley Investment's offices were located in the same building as the offices of Respondents-Alveys. (R. 382, 383) Also, Respondents Michael Alvey and Vaughn Alvey were the vice president/treasurer and president/secretary, respectively, of Midvalley. (R. 374, 450)

A few days after the Earnest Money Receipt, Exhibit "1" was signed, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford were taken by Mr. Herzog to American Home Mortgage. The reason for the meeting was to obtain a "pre-qualification" for a loan commitment. (R. 375) Mr. Herzog told Mr. and Mrs. Bradford to pursue the loan to the extent of keeping American Home Mortgage aware of their continued interest. (R. 278, 279, 413, 414)

[As proffered by the subsequent affidavits of Michael Herzog and Mr. Bradford, and as set forth in the deposition of Mr. Bradford, Mr. Bradford was told he could not get a loan commitment until the home was nearly completed.

(R. 194-199, 281, 282) (Note: This testimony was disallowed

at trial on the ground of hearsay. That this was prejudicial error will be set forth below.))]

Barney Alvey is the brother of the Respondents Alveys. He was the general foreman for these Respondents in the construction of the subject home. (R. 376, 450, 451)

About a week after Mr. and Mrs. Bradford had their "pre-qualification" at American Home Mortgage, they met with Barney Alvey and Michael Herzog in Midvalley Investment's office. The house plans were reviewed, and the Bradfords were given Barney Alvey's home telephone number. Mr. and Mrs. Bradford were told to call Barney Alvey with respect to any problems they might have with respect to the home.

(R. 376-378, 437) At this time, Barney Alvey told the Bradfords that the home would be completed sometime in July or August of 1978. Bradfords were also given a list of suppliers from whom they could pick out materials for the home. (R. 383)

Pam Tazzer was also employed by Respondents Alveys and worked in the offices of C. Howard Alvey & Sons. (R. 383, 451) In late February, 1978, Mrs. Bradford discussed with Ms. Tazzer over the telephone their choice of brick for the subject house. (R. 438) In early March, 1978, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford met with Ms. Tazzer in the offices of Respondents Alveys to choose their tile, tile colors and appliance colors. (R. 383, 384, 438)

In May, 1978, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford met with Barney Alvey at the home site. Discussions were had at that time regarding the problems Respondents Alveys were having in getting the brick for the home (R. 384)

In the latter part of July, 1978, Mr. Bradford telephoned Barney Alvey at his home. Construction of the house was discussed including the fact that there was still a problem in obtaining brick. (R. 384)

In September, 1978, Mr. Bradford again telephoned Barney Alvey at his home and asked why the home was not being worked on and why there was no brick. Barney Alvey stated that there were continuing problems with Interstate Brick Company in obtaining the brick for the home. (R. 385, 386)

Mrs. Bradford also made repeated telephone calls to Ms. Tazzer in March, April, May, and July of 1978. These were primarily for the purpose of choosing the brick, shingles, appliances, and other such items for the house.

In July, Ms. Tazzer indicated to Mrs. Bradford that there was still a problem getting brick, and that it would not be available until September, 1978. (R. 439, 440) In September, 1978, Mrs. Bradford again discussed with Barney Alvey the delay caused by the problem in getting the brick from Interstate. (R. 440) In November, 1978, Mrs. Bradford met with Ms. Tazzer in the offices of Respondents Alveys and picked out the stone work for the house. (R. 440)

In October, 1978, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford sold a duplex they owned and had been living in since prior to the execution of the subject Earnest Money Receipt And Offer To Purchase, Exhibit "1."

In anticipation of obtaining the money needed to get into their new house, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford had advertised the duplex for sale. They received an offer which they considered to be very good and, therefore, accepted. At this time, they realized it would still be a substantial time before the Shiloh house was finished. Not wanting to lose money paying rent, they chose to purchase another home located at 902 Potomac, Salt Lake City, Utah. This was also in October, 1978. (R, 386, 387)

In the first part of December, 1978, the Bradfords were contacted by Respondents Alveys' office and told where to pick out their cabinets. Pursuant to this telephone call, the Bradfords chose their cabinets and paid \$52.00 above the standard allowance. (R. 392, Exhibit 8) About one week later, December 12, 1978, the Bradfords paid \$157.00 for extra counter-top material used in the Shiloh home. (R. 392, 417, Exhibit 9)

In January, 1979, Mrs. Bradford called Barney Alvey and asked him when the house would be ready as they would need to sell their existing home. (R. 441) Barney Alvey told her that the house would be ready in two months, and they should get their existing house sold. (R. 441)

Sometime in the first week of February, 1979, Mr. Bradford called Barney Alvey and asked why the house was not being worked on. Barney Alvey told him they (Alveys) were finishing another house, but the Bradfords' house was next on line to be finished. (R. 386)

About a month later, early March, 1979, Mr. Bradford again called Barney Alvey and told him they (Bradfords) had sold their Murray home and would have to move within 30 days. Barney Alvey told him the Shiloh house could probably be finished within 30 days (R. 386)

Shortly after this, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford made a formal application to Mason-McDuffie for an FHA loan. This was on or about March 12, 1979. (R. 345, 388) No loan commitment was given on this loan application because the lending institution did not believe the home was substantially enough completed to order and process the needed FHA appraisal. (R. 345)

About the first of April, 1979, and prior to the completion of the loan application described above, Mrs. Bradford called Respondents Alveys' offices and asked for Ms. Tazzer. Respondent Michael Alvey, however, got on the telephone and told Mrs. Bradford that they had sold the Bradford's contract to Respondent Crowley. Mr. Alvey gave Mrs. Bradford Crowley's telephone number. Nothing was said indicating Respondents were going to dishonor the contract, Exhibit 1. (R. 442)

After Mrs. Bradford's conversation with Respondent Michael Alvey, Mr. Bradford telephoned Respondent Crowley. Mr. Bradford asked about the Shiloh property. Although Mr. Bradford expressed a continued interest in purchasing the house, Mr. Crowley stated he could not sell it to them for the original contract price of \$54,900.00, but would sell it to them for \$62,000.00. (R. 394, 418, 407, Exhibit 1) Crowley told Mr. Bradford that he thought they (Bradford's) had had ample time to secure a loan commitment, but that they had not done so. As a result, Mr. Crowley stated that "inflation had taken the house way past and beyond the point of that contract." He further stated that, "I just economically could not afford to do it as a gratis program and with nothing that I was legally bound to." (Emphasis added.) (R. 507)

Respondents Alveys had conveyed the entire subdivision in which the subject lot and home is located to Respondent Crowley on or about April 2, 1979. (Exhibit 11, 12) The Ernest Money Receipt, Exhibit 11, includes subject Lot 95 and provides on lines 21-24, "Buyer (Crowley) to assume Sellers (Alveys') position in all of the following . . . (2) Sellers obligation for completion of improvements approximately \$104,000.00. (3) assume Sellers equity and mortgage obligation on the following homes presently under construction . . . 95* . . . (*indicated the home is pre-sold)." (Emphasis added.) (Exhibit 11)

On April 30, 1979, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford filed the Complaint initiating this action. (R. 2) Subsequently, in July, 1979, Mason-McDuffie gave Mr. and Mrs. Bradford a firm commitment for a \$40,000.00 loan. (R. 345, 346, 389) Tender of the full purchase price as per the original agreement, Exhibit 1, was made on July 30, 1979. (R. 390, Exhibit 10)

In May of 1979, Mr. Bradford received \$17,000.00 from his parents. This was not listed as an obligation on the subsequent loan application to Mason-McDuffie as there was no firm obligation to repay these monies. (R. 388) The monies would be paid back "if and when" Mr. and Mrs. Bradford were able. (R. 444)

The matter was tried to the Court on the 24th and 25th days of September, 1979, the Honorable Dean E. Conder presiding.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT MR. AND MRS. BRADFORD FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE IN OBTAINING FINANCING.

This being an action in equity, this Court reviews the complete record, both law and facts, and passes upon the weight and sufficiency of the evidence. Reimain v. Baum, 115 Utah 147, 203 P.2d 387 (1949); Coombs v. Ouzounian, 24 Utah 2d 39, 465 P.2d 356 (1970).

The evidence set forth in the record is contrary to Findings of Fact numbered 5, as amended, 10 and 11; Conclusions of Law numbered 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9; and the

judgment of the court below; and clearly preponderates against the Respondents.

It is not contested that where an agreement for the sale of real property is expressly made subject to the buyer obtaining financing that the prospective buyer has an implied duty to use "reasonable diligence" in seeking financing.

Sorenson v. Connelly, 536 P.2d 328 (Colo. App. 1975); Anaheim Company v. Holcombe, 246 Ore. 541, 426 P.2d 743 (1967).

Inasmuch as all Appellants Bradfords' objections to the lower court's findings, conclusions and judgment, except the objection to Finding No. 5, are based upon the issue of "reasonable diligence," this will first be discussed. Following this, the error in the lower court's Finding No. 5 regarding Mr. and Mrs Bradford's alleged failure to make full disclosure of debts in their loan application will be set forth.

To determine what is "reasonable diligence," all the "facts and circumstances" of the case must be considered. Commercial Security Bank v. Johnson, 110 Utah 342, 173 P.2d 277 (1946); Matlock v. Wheeler, 306 P.2d 325 (Okla. 1957); Aspinwall v. Ryan, 190 Ore. 530, 226 P.2d 814 (1951); Campbell v. Warnberg, 133 Kan. 246, 299 P. 583 (1931).

In Commercial Security Bank, supra, at p. 281, the Court provides that an agreement which fails to set forth a time for performance must, by implication, be performed within a "reasonable" time. In determining what was reasonable, the court set forth the question, "Considering all the facts and

circumstances of this case, was . . . sufficient time for a reasonably prudent and diligent man . . . [to perform the] . . . contract?" (Emphasis added).

This provides us with the determinative test in this case: whether, under the facts and circumstance of this case, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford's efforts to obtain financing were reasonable.

It is uncontradicted that no formal loan application was made by Mr. and Mrs. Bradford until approximately 13 months had elapsed from the date of the execution of the subject Earnest Money contract, Exhibit 1. (Earnest Money dated February 22, 1978; Mr. and Mrs. Bradford applied with Mason-McDuffie sometime in the first part of March, 1979.) (R. 345, 388, Exhibit 1) The Arizona court under similar circumstances, in considering the related issue of abandonment, stated that the mere lapse of time was not sufficient to constitute an abandonment. Glad Tidings Church v. Hinkley, 71 Ariz. 307, 226 P.2d 1016 (1951). Similarly here, the passage of time, though relevant, is not determinative.

More importantly, the facts must be closely analyzed to determine why Mr. and Mrs. Bradford waited to make the formal loan application.

Why? Because Barney Alvey was the construction foreman for Respondents Alveys (R. 376, 450, 451); because Barney Alvey either by telephone or in person had discussions with Mr. and/or Mrs. Bradford approximately every five or six

weeks during this entire time regarding the completion of the home (R. 376-78, 437, 438, 383, 384, 439, 440, 451); because Barney Alvey told Mr. and Mrs. Bradford in February, 1978 that the home would be finished in July or August, 1978 (R. 376, 381, 437); because Barney Alvey told them completion would be delayed because of a problem Alveys were having in obtaining the brick, this happening first in May, then July, and again in September, all in 1978 (R. 384-386, 440); because Mr. and Mrs. Bradford met with Pam Tazzer and Barney Alvey in March, 1978 to choose the tile, tile colors, appliance colors and other items for the home (R. 383, 451); because Pam Tazzer told them in July, 1978 that there was a problem with the brick and it would not be available until September, 1978 (R. 439, 440); because in November, 1978, Mrs. Bradford met with Pam Tazzer in Respondents Alveys' offices and picked out the stone work for the house (R. 440); because in December, 1978, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford were contacted by Respondents Alveys' office and told where to pick out their cabinets (which they did, paying \$52.00 above the allowance) (R. 392, Exhibit 8); because in December, 1978, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford paid for purchase and installation for extra counter-top material for the house (R. 392, 417; Exhibit 9); because in January, 1979, Barney Alvey told Mr. Bradford that the subject Shiloh home would be finished in approximately two months, and that they should get their existing home sold (R. 441); because in February, 1979, Barney Alvey told Mrs.

Bradford that their home, the subject house, was next on line to be completed (R. 386); because about the first of March, 1979, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford, in reliance on Barney Alvey's statements, sold the home they then owned and were living in (R. 386); because about the first of March, 1979, Mr. Bradford told Barney Alvey that they had sold their home, and Barney Alvey stated he believed their new home could be finished in 30 days (R. 386); because their only contacts with Respondents Alveys were through Barney Alvey and Pam Tazzer, and no one for or on behalf of said Respondents ever inquired or demanded from Mr. or Mrs. Bradford as to the status of the financing nor the payment of any monies (R. 483); and because the first indication of any sort which Bradfords received that the Respondents were not going to honor the sale agreement came from Respondent Crowley on or about April, 1979 (R. 442).

[In addition to the above, were the statements of Michael Herzog to the Bradfords to the effect that the formal loan application need not be made until the house was near completion (R. 194-198) That testimony of these statements was erroneously excluded by the lower court is more particularly set forth under Point II below.]

Under these facts, was it reasonable for Mr. and Mrs. Bradford to postpone making their formal loan application until March, 1979? Certainly. Respondents Alveys by their actions induced Mr. and Mrs. Bradford into believing throughout

the entire period in question that they (Alveys) were still honoring the subject sale agreement, Exhibit 1. Any reasonable buyer in the place of Mr. and Mrs. Bradford would have acted as they did. They wanted the home very much. Therefore, instead of walking away when the home was not completed as originally anticipated, they continued to work with the sellers, expecting to close the sale at some later date. They saw no need to prematurely seek financing when they were unsure as to when the home would be completed. As soon as they were told the new home was near completion, they not only made a formal loan application, but sold their existing home. They were obviously proceeding reasonably and in good faith.

Why did Respondents repudiate the agreement? In the words of Respondent Crowley, "I just could not economically afford to do it" (R. 507) Unquestionably, prices had increased in the one-year period since the agreement was first executed. Crowley, however, took the subdivision with actual knowledge that Lot 95 had been "presold." (Exhibit 11) He stepped into the shoes of Respondents Alveys. He should have more thoroughly examined his potential liability with respect to the presold lots.

Mr. and Mrs. Bradford's conduct throughout has been reasonable and prudent. They should not be made to suffer for Respondents' error in judgment.

To allow Respondents to back away from this agreement, Exhibit 1, at this point would result in a manifest injustice

to Mr. and Mrs. Bradford. They can be made whole only by this Court exercising its equitable duty and ordering the Respondents to specifically perform pursuant to the original agreement. The judgment of the lower court should be reversed.

Finally, in awarding specific performance, the Court should be aware that:

1. Tender of payment by Mr. and Mrs. Bradford was unnecessary. Although tender of performance is normally required, a party is relieved of this duty where the other party repudiates the underlying agreement. Schmidt v. Sapp, 71 Ariz. 48, 223 P.2d 403 (1950); Flagg v. Fisk, 87 N.Y.S. 530 (1904). Also, it is so elementary as to require no citation that neither law nor equity requires one to do a vain or futile act. Obviously, tender after repudiation would have been and in fact was futile; and

2. Mr. and Mrs. Bradford appear before the Court with "clean hands." Respondents have consistently attempted to paint the Bradfords with unclean hands on the basis that in obtaining their loan commitment in July, 1979, Bradfords did not disclose that they had received \$17,000.00 from Mr. Bradford's parents in May of 1979. This is immaterial for two reasons: (a) Although Mr. Feil effectively led Mr. Bradford in deposition into stating that he had to repay the money, this was subsequently clarified in trial. Mr. and Mrs. Bradford testified that they are not under any obligation to repay his parents, but are repaying them on an "if and

when able" basis. (R. 444) His parents do not expect repayment. (R. 424) Mr. Calder of Mason-McDuffie testified that this money would have no effect on the loan if the applicants were not required to repay it. (R. 347, 348); and (b) as previously set forth, no tender was necessary as Respondents had repudiated the agreement. The July 30, 1979 tender was, therefore, superfluous.

Under the circumstances of this case, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford preceeded with reasonable diligence. They should be awarded specific performance and the matter remanded for hearing on costs and attorney's fees.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW TESTIMONY BY MR. AND MRS. BRADFORD OF CONVERSATIONS THEY HAD WITH REAL ESTATE AGENT MICHAEL HERZOG.

On direct examination, after testifying that he and Mrs. Bradford had obtained Midvalley's telephone number from a sign in Shiloh subdivision, and that in response to a call, Michael Herzog had come to their house and they had signed the Earnest Money, Exhibit 1, Mr. Bradford was asked:

Q. Were the terms of that earnest money receipt discussed at that time with Mr. Herzog?

A. Yes. It was.

Q. And referring to line 21 of that agreement, will you read that?

A. Says subject to buyer obtaining financing, FHA.

Q. How did that come to be placed in the agreement?

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