1980

Kenneth K. Bradford and Tammy Bradford v.
Michael Alvey and Vaughn Alvey, D/B/A C.
Howard Alvey & Sons, A Partnership; and Michael
E. Crowley, A General Partner, D/B/A Micro
Investment : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

and the evidence presented, we indulge the trial court with considerable latitude in those matters. Therefore, we do not review in the manner plaintiff suggests: To determine whether we would agree that the 'evidence fairly preponderates in favor of the findings.' But due to the tolerance indulged as just stated, we do not reverse unless we are persuaded that the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings.

Therefore, in order for the Appellants to prevail on appeal, this Court must find that the evidence clearly preponderates against the Lower Court's finding that the Appellants failed to use reasonable diligence to do what the contract required them to do. The record of the proceedings below, however, provides firm support for the trial court's ruling.

Initially, the importance of the subject to financing clause to the Appellants, as buyers, and to the Respondents, as sellers, must be understood. The Appellants in this case were sophisticated buyers. From previous experience they knew that the subject to financing condition would give them a way out of the Agreement in the event that they decided not to go forward with the purchase. (R. 375, 406) And in their prior experience they took immediate steps to satisfy the financing condition precedent. (R. 411)

It is also important to understand that the Respondents as building contractors must have the financing condition satisfied as soon as possible. First, a builder, such as the Respondents Alvey, is restricted by a lender as to the number of speculation homes, those commenced without an identified buyer, which

may be under construction at one time. (R. 472) Once an offer is received on a speculation house, such as the house on Lot 95, and the buyer obtains a commitment for financing, then the lender no longer considers the house as a speculation house for purposes of determining whether or not the builder is entitled to commence another house on a speculation basis. (R. 472-73)

Second, a builder must be assured that the buyer has the financial resources to complete the purchase before the builder makes improvements suited to the particular taste of the Buyer which would affect the marketability of the house in the event the buyer declines to complete the purchase. (R. 474)

Third, once an offer is received on a house, the house is taken off the real estate market listing board and if the buyer fails to take immediate steps to obtain financing and is later unable to obtain financing then the builder is deprived of valuable time and exposure necessary to market the property. (R. 491) For these reasons it was the general practice of the Respondents Alvey to either require the buyer to make the offer subject to financing which would thereby require the buyers to obtain proof of their ability to complete the transaction or the Respondents Alvey would insert a 72 hour clause which stated that if a second offer were received by the Respondent on the home, then the first buyers would have 72 hours to tender payment for the home or the second offer could be accepted by the builder. (R. 474) Here the 72 hour clause was not

inserted by Respondents Alvey because the offer was subject to Appellants obtaining financing.

The house on Lot 95 was in the early stage of construction when the Appellants entered the Earnest Money Agreement. (R. 488) Within a couple of days after the Agreement had been accepted, the Appellants' real estate agent took them to American Home Mortgage for the purpose of commencing the procedure to obtain financing. (R. 375) A buyer is considered to have obtained financing when he obtains a letter of commitment from the lender. (R. 488-89) After the application procedure is completed and the loan has been approved by the lender, the lender will send a letter to the builder informing the builder that the buyers have qualified for a loan commitment of a particular sum, at a particular interest rate and that the commitment will be binding upon the lender for a stated time. (R. 488) Upon receipt of this letter the buyers have satisfied the condition precedent and their offer to purchase is no longer subject to obtaining financing. (R. 489)

At the conclusion of the meeting at American Home Mortgage, the Appellants were instructed by their real estate agent to continue to pursue the loan. (R. 414) However, rather than follow the agent's advice, the Appellants did not bother to even commence the process by making an application for a loan. (R. 419)

An FHA loan commitment can only be obtained after qualification of both the property and the buyer. (R. 515) Qualification

of a house which is in the early stages of construction, as was the home on Lot 95, is done by appraisal from a set of plans and specifications. (R. 513) If the home is approved by FHA from the plans and specifications then FHA will issue a conditional commitment on the property subject only to the home being completed according to the plans and specifications. (R. 362) While the property is being qualified by FHA, the mortgage lender prepares a package establishing the qualification of the Buyers, for example, verification of employment, income and debts. (R. 513) Upon receipt of the conditional commitment, the lender will then submit the buyer qualification package and request from FHA a firm commitment. (R. 363) When both the house and buyer have been approved by FHA, a letter of firm commitment is issued which is binding for a period of six months. (R. 515)

The president of American Home Mortgage, where the Appellants initially inquired about financing, and the Appellants' expert witness from Mason-McDuffy, where a conventional loan was eventually obtained in July of 1979, both testified that FHA financing could have been obtained at the time the Appellants first went to American Home Mortgage. (R. 515) According to the testimony at trial, a final commitment from FHA is usually received within at least 13 working days from the request for the commitment. (R. 364) At its longest, the entire procedure for obtaining an FHA loan commitment does not extend beyond 90 days. (R. 362-63, 515)

The uncontradicted testimony at trial was that if the Appellants had obtained a loan commitment, the Respondents Alvey could have completed the house on Lot 95 within a month and a half from the date of receipt of the commitment. (R. 482, 501)

The Appellants took the position that they did not have to obtain financing until construction of the home was completed. (R. 403) However, the Appellants also maintained that they always intended to rely on the financing condition as a means to avoid obligation under the contract. (R. 422)

The Appellants cite in support of the reasonableness of their conduct, the several conversations between Appellants and the secretary and construction foreman of the Respondents Alvey. However, Appellants never discussed their obligations under the Earnest Money Agreement but only the obligations which would arise on the part of the Respondents after receipt of the loan commitment. (App. Brief at 11-13) The Appellants also admitted that neither of the Respondents Alvey instructed the Appellants to deal in any manner with the secretary or construction foreman as to either the construction or the sale of the house. (R. 415, 448)

Further, the Appellants never attempted to deal directly with either of the Respondents Alvey regarding any matter of financing or construction on the home. (R. 404)

The record also contains numerous references to what is considered to be a reasonable time necessary to procure a

loan in the housing industry. The Respondents Alvey, as builders, testified that a reasonable time to obtain financing was thirty to sixty days. (R. 482) Appellants' expert witness, a mortgage banker, testified that it takes as much as thirteen working days to get a firm commitment from FHA. (R. 363-64) The President of American Home Mortgage testified that the normal length of time it takes to obtain a commitment from FHA is sixty days, at the outside, ninety days. (R. 517) Respondent Crowley, as a developer, testified that a reasonable time to obtain financing is ninety days at the outside. (R. 525) Lynn Marsing, as a real estate broker, testified that at the outside an FHA commitment can be obtained within ninety days. (R. 521) Mr. Marsing stated that the industry intent and purpose of the subject to financing clause was to release all parties to an Earnest Money Agreement if the condition to obtain financing was not met or failed to materialize within a reasonable time. (R. 520).

Finally, and most important, the Appellants simply failed to take any steps to procure a loan commitment until several months after this action was commenced. (R. 445, 419, 345-46)

POINT II

AS PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT, THE STATEMENTS OF MICHAEL HERZOG WERE HEARSAY EVIDENCE NOT WITHIN ANY EXCEPTIONS TO UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE NO. 63 AND THEREFORE WERE PROPERLY EXCLUDED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Michael Herzog was a licensed real estate agent employed by Mid-Valley Investment, a corporation. (R. 372) The Respondents Michael Alvey and Vaughn Alvey were general partners doing business as C. Howard Alvey & Sons, a general construction company. (R. 450) Michael Herzog was requested by the Appellants to act as their agent in presenting an offer for the purchase of property from the Respondents Alvey, d/b/a C. Howard Alvey & Sons. (R. 443)

The Appellants did not obtain the attendance of Mr. Herzog at the trial, for reasons which were not disclosed in the record. Rather, the Appellants attempted to testify as to their conversation with Michael Herzog and later an affidavit was prepared for Mr. Herzog which was submitted to the court after trial. (R. 194-96)

The Appellants' efforts to testify as to statements made by Michael Herzog were objected to by the Respondents on the ground of hearsay. The Appellants established no connection between Mid-Valley Investment, a corporation, and C. Howard Alvey & Sons, a general partnership, other than at one time, Michael Alvey was an acting vice president and treasurer of the corporation and Vaughn Alvey was the acting president and secretary of the corporation. (R. 450) There was no evidence that at the time Mr. Herzog made any statements to the Appellants that the Respondents Alvey held any office in the corporation of Mid-Valley Investment. Nor was there any evidence of the scope of Mr. Herzog's employment with or his authority to

speak for Mid-Valley Investment or C. Howard Alvey & Sons. Further, there was no evidence of any connection between Mid-Valley Investment Corporation and C. Howard Alvey & Sons, a general partnership. The evidence did establish, however, that C. Howard Alvey & Sons was a building construction company and was not a real estate marketing company. (R. 485) Based upon the total absence of evidence of an agency relationship between Michael Herzog, an employee of Mid-Valley Investment Corporation and C. Howard Alvey & Sons, a partnership, the trial court excluded the statements on the grounds of hearsay. (R. 373-74)

On appeal, the Appellants argue that the statements of Michael Herzog were admissible under the Authorized and Adoptive Admissions exception to the hearsay rule, or the Vicarious Admissions exception to the hearsay rule. However, Appellants failed to establish the availability of either exception at trial.

In order for the statements of Michael Herzog to be admissible against the Respondents under Rule 63(8)(a), the Appellants were required to show that Mr. Herzog was authorized by C. Howard Alvey & Sons to make a statement for it concerning the subject matter of the statement. No evidence of such authorization was submitted at trial and the Appellants cited none in their brief. However, the Appellants assert that authorization can be gleaned first from the fact that all negotiations regarding the sale took place between Bradfords and Herzog and second,

that the defendant, Michael Alvey instructed Michael Herzog to assist the Appellants in obtaining financing.

The first assertion that all negotiations regarding the sale of property took place between Herzog and the Bradfords is not born out by the record. The Appellants contacted Herzog regarding the purchase of the property. Herzog, acting as the agent for the Appellants, prepared the offer with those terms and conditions he felt benefited the Appellants. (R. 373) Herzog then presented the offer to the Respondents Alvey who accepted the conditional offer to purchase and Herzog communicated acceptance of the offer to the Appellants. The Respondents produced no evidence either during or after the trial to the effect that Michael Herzog acted as the representative of C. Howard Alvey & Sons. Under these circumstances it has been recognized that the real estate agent is acting as the agent of the purchaser. Duffy v. Setchell, 38 Ill. App. 3d 146, 347 N.E. 2d 218, 221 (1976); Baskin v. Dam, 4 Conn. Cir. 702, 239 A.2d 549, 552 (1967).

The second contention, that the Respondents Alvey instructed Michael Herzog to assist the Appellants in obtaining financing, does not provide support for the contention that Herzog acted as the agent of C. Howard Alvey & Sons. The Appellants correctly point out that Respondents Alvey instructed the Bradfords to obtain financing indirectly through Michael Herzog. (Appellants' Brief at 18-19) However, the Appellants' brief fails to continue quoting from the record, although the testimony addresses the precise question of agency raised by the Appellants.

After stating that Michael Herzog was told to work with Appellants to obtain financing, the Appellants' attorney asked:

Q. Mike Herzog is your agent then, isn't he?

A. No. He's not. May I explain something? (R. 493)

That testimony was uncontradicted and was the only testimony in the record addressing the existence of an agency between C. Howard Alvey & Sons and Michael Herzog. It should be noted further that the Respondents Alvey's instruction to Mr. Herzog to assist the Appellants in obtaining financing is not evidence of an agency between the Real Estate agent and the respondents Alvey, but on the contrary, it is evidence that C. Howard Alvey & Sons, preserved the distinction between the building contractor and the Real Estate agent, who was responsible to assist the buyer in obtaining financing. (R. 476)

In order for the Appellants to rely upon Rule 63 (9), regarding Vicarious Admissions, the Appellants must first show that the declarant is unavailable as a witness and second, that the statement concerned a matter within the scope of an agency or employment of the declarant for the party. Appellants concede that no attempt was made to introduce evidence at trial to show the unavailability of Michael Herzog. (App. Brief at 22) Then the Appellants improperly argue alleged facts upon which there is no record as justification for not addressing availability. [In this connection it should be noted that Mr. Herzog was available to provide an affidavit in support of Appellants' Motion for New Trial, etc.]

The Appellants claim that because they were unable to establish an agency between Michael Herzog and C. Howard Alvey & Sons, they were relieved of the obligation to address the issue of availability of Michael Herzog. No authority is cited for this position, on the contrary, Rule 63 (9) provides that the exception is only available where the Judge makes a finding as to the availability of the witness. Therefore even if the court were to assume that an agency had been established beyond doubt, the fact remains that the Appellants offered no evidence as to the unavailability of the witness as required by Rule 63(9). The error Appellants claim resulted from their failure to proffer the testimony for a non-hearsay purpose. The Appellants cannot urge, on appeal, a new ground for admissibility. URE 5; Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakeney Corp., 578 P.2d 1286, 1288 (Utah 1978); Taliaferro v. Crola, 313 P.2d 136, 138 (Cal. 1957); Cochran v. Harrison Memorial Hospital, 254 P.2d 752, 757 (Wash. 1953).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT WHERE THE AMENDMENT WAS IMPROPER UNDER URCP 15(b) AND WHERE THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE ISSUE SOUGHT TO BE INTRODUCED BY THE AMENDMENT.

After the trial, the Appellants attempted to introduce the issue of equitable estoppel by way of an amendment to the complaint. (R. 173-74) The purpose of the amendment was to

attempt to have the Respondents estopped from denying the validity of the Earnest Money Agreement. (R. 175, 178) Denial of the motion by the trial court was proper on two grounds.

First, the amendment was not proper under the first sentence of URCP 15(b). That sentence provides for amendment of the pleadings only where an issue not raised by the pleadings is tried by the express or implied consent of the parties. Contrary to the Appellants' contention, the issue of estoppel was never tried by the implied consent of the parties.

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